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Plaintiff, Herman Dougl as, Sr. (“Douglas”), has a
patent on a u-shaped device that hooks on to an autonobile
operator's thigh, enabling the operator to steer the autonobile
with his or her thigh instead of, or in addition to, using his or
her hands. He alleges that this patent enconpasses the design
for a neck support pillow, and that Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. ("Wl-
Mart") is infringing his patent by selling a u-shaped neck
pillow. On March 25, 2005, Douglas filed an anmended conpl ai nt,
addi ng clainms for copyright infringenent, false advertising,
trade dress infringenent, state and common | aw unfair
conpetition, and trademark infringenment to his claimfor patent
i nfringenent.

Wal - Mart denies that its neck pillow infringes Dougl as
patent and asserts that the additional clainms have no nerit.

Wal - Mart has filed counterclains seeking a declaratory judgnent



of non-infringenment and invalidity of the patent, and a judgnent
of fal se-marking agai nst Douglas pursuant to 35 U S.C. § 292.

Both parties have filed notions for summary judgnent.
Wal - Mart asks the Court to dismss all counts of the anended
conplaint, to order that Wal-Mart’s product does not infringe
Dougl as’ patent, that Douglas’ patent is invalid, and that
Dougl as has fal sely marked pronotional nmaterial in violation of
35 U.S.C. § 292. WAl-Mart requests Douglas be ordered to pay a
fine pursuant to 35 U . S.C. 8§ 292, and attorneys’ fees and costs.
Dougl as seeks summary judgnent on all of his clainms, requests
damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and asks that the Court
enjoin Wal -Mart fromfurther infringenment of Wal-Mart’'s patent,
copyright, and tradenmark.

For the reasons that follow, summary judgnent will be
granted to Wal-Mart on all of Douglas’ clains. WAl-Mart’s
request for attorneys’ fees and costs will be denied. Wal-Mart’s
first counterclaimw Il be dismssed as noot. Douglas’ notion to

di smss Wal-Mart’'s second counterclaimw ||l be granted.

BACKGROUND
On Septenber 9, 1997, the United States Patent and
Trademark OFfice issued a patent to Douglas (the “*272 patent”).

The clains of the ‘272 patent are as follows:!?

L' Aclaimin a patent registration is “[a] formal statenent
descri bing the novel features of an invention and defining the
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1. A conbi ned notor vehicle control pillow and
tiltable steering wheel cover unit for straight
hi ghway driving conpri sing:
a fabric covered foam pi ece;
a hook and | oop fastener strip nounted on one
surface of said fabric covered foam pi ece;
said hook and | oop fastener strip being
arranged to engage a steering wheel cover,
said cover of said steering wheel being of a
suitable material to be gripped by said hook
and | oop fastener strip; and
a U-shaped plastic retainer secured to the
opposite surface of said fabric covered foam
pi ece, said U shaped plastic retainer being
adapted to fit on a thigh of a driver of a
not or vehicle, whereby when said steering
wheel is tilted toward the foam pi ece on the
thigh of the driver a gripping contact is
est abl i shed between said hook and | oop
fastener strip and said steering wheel cover
to maintain said steering wheel in a
rotationless attitude.
2. The device of claim1 wherein said fabric covered
f oam pi ece can be covered by plastic, silk,
| eat her, cotton, and rayon or denim
3. The pillow of claim1 wherein said U shaped
retainer is nmounted up beneath the said pillow and
is supported by a funnel opening for easy assenbly
and cl eani ng.

Wal - Mart contends that Cainms 2 and 3 are dependant on Claim 1,
which is the only independent claim The clains are acconpanied
by the specification and drawi ngs of the “preferred enbodi nent of
the invention.”? The specification includes the sentence: “This

i nvention can al so be used as a neck support pillow”

scope of a patent’s protection.” Black’s Law Dictionary 241 (7'"
Ed. 1999).

2 The specification is “[a] patent applicant’s witten
description of how an invention is constructed and used.”
Bl ack’s Law Dictionary 1406 (7'" Ed. 1999).
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On January 13, 2005, Douglas filed an action agai nst
Val -Mart, alleging that Wal-Mart’s “GUEE MASSAGE™ NECK MASSAGE
w th Renovabl e Massager” (“Glee Neck Massage”) infringes the *272
patent. Wal-Mart states that the Giee Neck Massage is not a
conbi ned notor vehicle control pillow and tiltable steering wheel
cover unit, does not contain a fabric covered foam piece,?® and
does not contain a hook and | oop fastener strip nmounted on one
surface of said fabric covered foam pi ece.

On March 22, 2005, Dougl as registered Copyright TX 6-
155-893, for advertising copy titled “Pleasurable Neck Pillow,”
or “neck support pillow.” On March 25, 2005, Douglas filed an
amended conpl ai nt, adding clainms for copyright infringenent,
fal se advertising, trade dress infringenent, state and common | aw

unfair conpetition, and trademark infringenent.

1. LEGAL STANDARD

A court may grant summary judgment only when “the
pl eadi ngs, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and
adm ssions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show
that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that
the noving party is entitled to judgnent as a matter of law.”

Fed. R Cv. P. 56(c). A fact is “material” only if its

3 Wl -Mart alleges the Giee Neck Massage is “stuffed with
t housands of cushiony foam beads.” (Def.’s Mt. Summ J. 7.)
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exi stence or non-exi stence would affect the outcone of the suit

under governing |law. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U S

242 (1986). An issue of fact is “genuine” only when there is
sufficient evidence fromwhich a reasonable jury could find in
favor of the non-noving party regarding the exi stence of that
fact. 1d. 1In determ ning whether there exist genuine issues of
material fact, all inferences nust be drawn, and all doubts nust

be resolved, in favor of the non-noving party. Coregis Ins. Co.

v. Baratta & Fenerty, Ltd., 264 F.3d 302, 305-06 (3d Gr. 2001)

(citing Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248).

Were the non-noving party is the plaintiff and,
therefore, bears the burden of proof at trial, that party nust
present affirmative evidence sufficient to establish the

exi stence of each elenent of his case. 1d. at 306 (citing Cel otex

Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U S. 317, 323, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. O

2548 (1986)). Accordingly, a plaintiff cannot rely on
unsupported assertions, speculation, or conclusory allegations to

avoid the entry of summary judgnent, see Celotex, 477 U S. at

324, but rather, the plaintiff “nust go beyond pl eadi ngs and
provi de sone evidence that would show that there exists a genuine

issue for trial.” Jones v. United Parcel Serv., 214 F.3d 402,

407 (3d Gir. 2000).



I'11. ANALYSI S

A. Pat ent | nfri ngenment

VWl - Mart argues that summary judgnent shoul d be granted
inits favor on Douglas’ claimof patent infringenent for two
reasons: (1) If the *272 patent covered all u-shaped neck pill ows
filled wwth beads it would be invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102(b)
because u-shaped neck pillows were on sale in the United States
at least three years before Douglas received his patent; and (2)
Dougl as has not put forward evidence proving that the Giee Neck
Massage infringes the ‘272 patent, either literally or under the
doctrine of equival ents.

Dougl as argues that the Giee Neck Massage infringes the
‘272 patent because the specification of the ‘272 patent states
that the “invention can also be used as a neck support pillow.”
Dougl as clainms that his device and the Giee Neck Massage perform
substantially the sane function and WAl -Mart is therefore
infringing the ‘272 patent under the doctrine of equival ents.

Dougl as has not put forward sufficient evidence to show
infringenment under a traditional patent infringenment analysis,
and summary judgnent wll therefore be granted in favor of Wal-
Mart on the patent infringenment claim It is not necessary to
reach the issue of whether the ‘272 patent is valid.

“Determ nation of patent infringenment requires a two-

step analysis: (1) the scope of the clains nust be construed; and



(2) the allegedly infringing device nust be conpared to the

construed clains.” Mars, Inc. v. HJ. Heinz Co., L.P., 377 F.3d

1369, 1373 (Fed. Cr. 2004). It is the clains, not the
specification, that define the scope of the patent and its

protections. See, e.qg., Johnson & Johnson Assoc. Inc. v. RE

Service Co., Inc., et al., 285 F.3d 1046, 1052 (Fed. G r. 2002)

(the claimrequirenent “presupposes that a patent applicant
defines his invention in the clains, not in the specification ..
the clains, not the specification, provide the nmeasure of the

patentee’s right to exclude.”).

1. Literal infringenent

Literal infringenment of a patent exists when “each of
the claimlimtations ‘reads on,’ or in other words is found in,

t he accused device.” Allen Eng’g Corp. v. Bartell Indus., Inc.,

299 F.3d 1336, 1345 (Fed. G r. 2002). Douglas does not put
forward any evidence showing that the claimlimtations of the
‘272 patent read on the Giee Neck Massage. Wal-Mart has put
forward evi dence showi ng that the Giee Neck Massage is not a
conbi ned notor vehicle control pillow and tiltable steering wheel
cover unit, and does not contain a fabric covered foam piece, a
hook and | oop fastener strip, or a U shaped plastic retainer, al

of which are claimlimtations of the ‘272 patent.



2. Doctrine of equivalents

Al though a finding of literal infringenent is precluded
if one or nore of the claimlimtations are not literally present
in the allegedly infringing product, an accused device can stil
infringe a patent if it contains an equivalent of the claim
l[imtation. A court will analyze an equivalent on a limtation-
by-limtation basis, in order to be “specially vigilant agai nst
all owi ng the concept of equivalence to elimnate any claim

[imtations conpletely.” Allen Eng’g Corp., 299 F.3d at 1345.

To prove equival ence, a party nust show “that an el enent of an
accused devi ce does substantially the same thing in substantially
the same way to get substantially the same result as the claim
[imtation.” [d. (citation omtted).

Wal - Mart argues that to find the Giee Neck Massage
infringes the *272 patent under the doctrine of equivalents would
erase the limtation that the *272 patent is for a “conbi ned
not or vehicle control pillow and tiltable steering wheel cover
unit for straight highway driving” conprised of a fabric covered
f oam pi ece, a hook and | oop fastener strip, and a U shaped
pl astic retainer.

Dougl as argues that the doctrine of equivalents applies
because the Giee Neck Massage “does perform substantially the
sane function in substantially the sane way to obtain the sane

result.” (Pl.’s Mot. Summ J. 52.) However, the only evidence



Dougl as offers in support is information fromthe patent’s
specification, including the sentence, “[t]his invention can al so
be used as a neck support pillow,” and a description of the shape
of the pillow (Pl.”s Mot. Summ J. 46-49.) Again, it is the
clainms, not the specification, that define the scope of the
patent’s protection. Douglas also argues that because the Giee
Neck Massage contains “thousands of cushiony foam beads,” it is a
fabric covered foam pi ece, because “if there would not be a
fabric cover to Wl -Marts’ pillow, there would not be anything to
stuff the cushiony beads in.” (Pl.’s Mot. Summ J. 32.) Wth
this assertion, the Douglas attenpts to change the claim
limtation of a “fabric-covered foam piece” into anything fabric
covered. The doctrine of equivalents cannot be used to “erase
meani ngful structural and functional limtations of the claimon
which the public is entitled to rely in avoiding infringenent.”

Johnson & Johnson, 285 F.3d at 1054 (citing Conopco, Inc. v. My

Dep’t Stores Co., 46 F.3d 1556, 1562 (Fed. Cir. 1994)).

Dougl as has failed to offer evidence show ng that the
Giee Neck Massage infringes the *272 patent, either literally or
under the doctrine of equivalents. Accordingly, summary judgnent
in favor of Wal-Mart on the claimof patent infringenent is

appropriate.*?

4 As stated above, Wal-Mart al so contends that Dougl as’
assertion that the Giee Neck Massage is identical to the device
covered by the '272 patent invalidates the patent, as such a
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B. Copyri ght | nfringenent

In his anended conpl aint, Dougl as all eges Wl - Mart
infringed his copyright for the text of an advertisenent for a
pl easurabl e neck pillow. In order to prove copyright
infringenent, a plaintiff nust show (1) proof of plaintiff’s
ownership of the copyright, and (2) copying by the defendant.

Feist Publ’ns, Inc. v. Rural Tel. Serv. Co., 499 U. S. 340, 361

(1990). Copying is proven by show ng: (1) the defendant had
access to the copyrighted work, and (2) there are substanti al

simlarities between the two works. Dam Thi ngs from Dennark,

a/k/ia Troll Co. ApS v. Russ Berrie & Co., Inc., 290 F.3d 548, 561

(3d CGir. 2002).

Wal - Mart contends that Douglas has put forward no
evi dence showi ng that Wal-Mart copied his copyrighted work.
Dougl as argues that “Wal-Marts’ comercial packaging is conplete
evi dence of copying.” (Pl.’s Mot. Summ J. 10.) He points to

the col or schene, and the fact that both his and VWl -Mart’s

advertisenments use the words, “neck,” “pillow,” “stretchable,”
“squeezable,” “fabric,” “pocket,” *zipper,” “for,” “foam” and
“vibrator.”

Regar di ng ownership of the copyright, Douglas has put

device was sold in the United States nore than three years before
the patent issued. It is not necessary to reach this issue,
however, as insufficient evidence has been offered to support a
clai mof patent infringenment under a traditional patent

i nfringenent anal ysis.
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forward evidence of his copyright registration, Nunber TX 6-155-
893. Wal-Mart has not challenged this registration beyond noting
that the copyright is a “TX’ registration, for a literary work,
and therefore covers only the text of Douglas’ advertising copy,
not its visual aspects.?®

In order to prove copying of the protected work, a
plaintiff may put forward direct evidence of copying, or
circunstantial evidence of access and substantial simlarity
between the allegedly infringing and the protected work. See,

e.qg., Franklin Mnt Corp. v. National Wldlife Art Exch., 575

F.2d 62, 64 (3d Gr. 1978). The indirect evidence necessary to
show access nust only show “there is a reasonable possibility of

access.” Cottrill v. Spears, 87 Fed. Appx. 803, 805 (3d G

2004) (citing Gaste v. Kaiserman, 863 F.2d 1061, 1066 (2d Cr

1988)). For exanple, a plaintiff may show there is a
rel ati onship between the alleged copier and an internmediary with

access to the protected work. 1d.; see also Mdway Mg. Co. V.

Bandai - Anerica, Inc., 546 F. Supp. 125, 145-46 (D.N. J. 1982)

(wi de publication of a work wll suffice to show access).

Addi tionally, the access shown nust be neaningful, in that the

> “Literary works” are defined by the Copyright Act as,
“wor ks, other than audiovisual works, expressed in words,
nunbers, or other verbal or nunerical synbols or indicia,
regardl ess of the nature of the material objects, such as books,
peri odi cal s, manuscripts, phonorecords, film tapes, disks, or
cards, in which they are enbodied.” 17 U. S.C. 8§ 101 (2005).
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plaintiff nust show the defendant had an opportunity to view or
copy the work before the allegedly infringing work was conpl et ed.
Id.

In this case, Douglas has put forward no evidence that
Wal - Mart had access to his copyrighted material. “Access nust be
nore than a nmere possibility and may not be inferred through

specul ation or conjecture.” Franklin Mnt, 575 F.2d at 806

(citing Gaste, 863 F.2d at 1066). The failure of Douglas to
prove access, either directly or circunstantially, is sufficient
reason for the Court to grant summary judgnent to Wal-Mart on the
copyright infringenent claim

I n addition, Douglas has not sufficiently pointed to
substantial simlarity between the advertisenent for the Giee
Neck Massage and the advertisenent for the Pleasurable Neck
Pillow An inquiry into substantial simlarity considers two
factors: (1) whether the defendant copied plaintiff’s work; and
(2) whether this copying, if proven, constituted an inproper
appropriation — or, in other words, whether the substanti al

simlarity related to protectible material. Kay Berry, Inc. v.

Taylor Gfts, Inc., 421 F.3d 199, 207-08 (3d Gr. 2005). The

second factor is to be considered fromthe perspective of a |ay
person. |d.
Here, Douglas points to the Wal-Mart’s use of the

foll ow ng words as evidence of copying: “neck,” “pillow”
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“stretchable,” “squeezable,” “fabric,” “pocket,” “zipper,” “for,”
“foam” and “vibrator.” The Court finds that, fromthe
perspective of a lay person, the use of these commobn words does
not constitute illicit copying. On this basis, too, the Court
finds it appropriate to grant sunmary judgnment for Wal-Mart on

t he copyright infringenment claim?®

C. Trade Dress |nfringenent

““*Trade dress’ refers to the design or packaging of a
product which serves to identify the product’s source.” Shire US

Inc. v. Barr Lab. Inc., 329 F.3d 348, 353 (3d Gr. 2003). To

® Dougl as nakes the argunent that Wal-Mart has admtted its
copyright infringenment by alleging it is protected under the
doctrine of “fair use.” “Fair use” is indeed a defense used to
counter a charge of infringenment in the copyright context, and is
asserted to excuse conduct that may otherw se anobunt to copyi ng,
see, e.qg., Video Pipeline, Inc. v. Buena Vista Hone
Entertainnent, Inc., 342 F.3d 191, 205 n.13 (3d Cir. 2003), but
Wal - Mart does not assert such a defense here. |Instead, Wal-Mart
argues there has been no proof of infringenment offered by
Dougl as, and the Court agrees.

At oral argument on Cctober 10, 2005, Wal-Mart stated that
in response to Douglas’ requests for adm ssion, Wil -Mart had
admtted that the outside of the box of the Giee Neck Massage
contained the word, “squeezable.” Wal-Mart then stated that if
the Wal - Mart had trademark rights to enforce, such a use of the
word “squeezable” would be fair use. (Tr. 26, Cct. 10, 2005.)

In the trademark context, nominative fair use can occur if the
only practical way to refer to sonmething is by using the
trademarked term See, e.g., Century 21 Real Estate Corp. V.
Lendingtree, Inc., 425 F.3d 211, 214 (3d G r. 2005). This may be
t he source of Douglas’ contention that Wal-Mart had asserted a
fair use defense. The Court wll not reach the fair use doctrine
in either the copyright nor the trademark contexts, as it finds

t here has been no infringenent.
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establish infringenment, a plaintiff nust show (1) the allegedly
infringing feature is non-functional; (2) the feature is

i nherently distinctive or has acquired secondary neaning, and (3)
consuners are |likely to confuse the source of plaintiff’s product

with that of the allegedly infringing product. Id.

Wal - Mart asserts that Douglas has not offered
sufficient evidence to prove the claimof trade dress
infringenent. Douglas argues that “Plaintiff’s trade dress is
found on Defendant’s design of the product and its packagi ng and
advertisenent in violation of both the Lanham Act and Feder al
Trade Act.” (Pl.’s Mot. Summ J. 17.) This unsupported
assertion is not sufficient to establish the elenents of trade
dress infringenent and sunmary judgnment will be granted in favor

of Wal-Mart on this claim

D. Fal se Adverti si ng

Dougl as al so all eges Wal -Mart has engaged i n conduct
anounting to fal se advertising under the Lanham Act, 15 U S.C. 8§
1125(a). To establish such a claim Douglas nust show (1) Wl -
Mart made fal se or m sl eading statenents about his own product
(or another’s); (2) there is actual deception or a tendency to
decei ve a substantial portion of the intended audience; (3) the

deception is material in that it is likely to influence
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pur chasi ng decisions; (4) the advertised goods traveled in
interstate commerce; and (5) there is a likelihood of injury to
the plaintiff, e.g., declining sales and | oss of good wll.

Warner-Lanbert Co. v. Breathasure, Inc., 204 F.3d 87, 92 (3d CGr

2000) .

Wl - Mart asserts that Douglas has not offered
sufficient evidence to show fal se advertising. Douglas states
that the fal se advertising consists of Wal-Mart’s use of his
color and text. He also states that the products at issue have
traveled in interstate commerce and that he has been and wl|
continue to be irreparably harnmed by Wal -Mart’s fal se
adverti sing.

Dougl as has put forward no evidence that Wl -Mart nade
fal se or msleading statenents regarding its product, on any
i ntended deception, or on any |ikelihood of injury Douglas my
suffer due to Wal-Mart’s all eged conduct. Instead, he relies on
conclusory all egati ons and unsupported assertions. Sumrary

judgnment will be granted for Wal-Mart on this claim

E. Unfair Conpetition; Trademark |Infringenent

To establish a claimfor unfair conpetition or
trademark infringenment, a plaintiff nmust show “(1) the mark is
valid and legally protectable; (2) the mark is owned by the

plaintiff; and (3) the defendant's use of the mark to identify

15



goods and services is |likely to create confusion concerning the

origin of the goods or services.” Scott Fetzer Co. v. Gehring,

288 F. Supp.2d 696, 703 (E.D. Pa. 2003) (citation omtted).’

Wl - Mart argues that Douglas has not put forward
evi dence to establish any of the necessary elenents for the
clainms of unfair conpetition and trademark infringement. Wal-
Mart al so contends the mark “Pl easurable Neck Pillow is
descriptive, and thus not entitled to trademark protection.
(Def.”s Mot. Summ J. 29-31.)

Dougl as states that his “first evidence is Defendants’
fraudul ent Giee Neck Massage™ Neck Massage with renovabl e
massager,” and that Douglas is the first user of the trademark
“Pl easurable Neck Pillow in the state of Pennsylvania. Douglas
al so contends that Wal-Mart’s use of the colors red, white, and
blue on its comrerci al packaging infringes his trademark. (Pl.’s
Mbt. Summ J. 17, 28.)

Al t hough Dougl as argues that color itself can be
protected by trademark, Douglas has offered no evidence to
suppl ement his own assertions that the mark is valid, legally

prot ectable, and owned by Douglas. Sumrary judgnment will be

" The el enents of unfair conpetition under Pennsylvania |aw
and federal |aw are the sanme, except the federal clains require
an effect on interstate cormmerce, and the el enents necessary to
establish a claimof unfair conpetition and one of trademark
infringenent are the sane. Scott Fetzer Co., 288 F. Supp.2d at
703.
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granted for Wal -Mart on the trademark infringenment and unfair

conpetition clains.

F. VWl -Mart’ s Count ercl ai ns

1. Decl aratory judgenment of non-infringenent and

invalidity of the ‘272 patent

Wal - Mart seeks a declaratory judgnent of non-
infringenment and invalidity of the ‘272 patent based on the
assertion that u-shaped neck pillows were being sold in the
United States nore than three years prior to the registration of

the *272 patent. This counterclaimw || be dism ssed as noot.

2. Fal se mar ki ng

Wl - Mart seeks summary judgnent on its counterclaimfor
fal se marking, alleging that Douglas has falsely marked his
advertisenents for the “3'¥ Hand Auto Control Pillow,” and the
“Pl easurable Neck Pillow with the ‘272 patent registration
nunber, in violation of 35 U S.C. § 292. WAl-Mart argues that
nei ther of these devices falls within the clains of the ‘272
pat ent .

Dougl as noves to dismss Wal -Mart’s counterclaim
contending that his patent enconpasses many different materials
and net hods of assenbling the device, and he has therefore

properly |l abeled his devices with the ‘272 patent registration
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nunber .
Under federal law, patent msmarking is a crim nal

offense. 35 U S.C. § 292; Boyd v. Schildkraut G ftware Corp.

936 F.2d 76, 79 (2d Cr. 1991). “The statute is enforceable by a
qui tamrenedy, enabling any person to sue for the statutory
penalty and retain one-half of the recovery.” Boyd, 936 F.2d at
79. False marking is established when “an unpatented article is
marked with the word ‘patent’ or any word or nunber that inports
that the article is patented, and such marking is for the purpose

of deceiving the public.” dontech Laboratories, Inc. V.

Invitrogen Corp., 406 F.3d 1347, 1351 (Fed. Cr. 2005).

Intent to deceive the public nust be established to
find a violation of § 292. See Boyd, 936 F.2d at 79; Myvi ew
Corp. V. Rodstein, 620 F.2d 1347, 1359 (9'" Gir. 1980); EMC Corp.

v. Control Solutions, Inc., 369 F. Supp.2d 539, 584 (E.D. Pa.

2005) (“A claimfor false marking fails absent evidence of an
actual intent to deceive.”). In its counterclaimconplaint, Wl-
Mart all eged that Douglas fal sely marked an unpatented article
with the intent to deceive the public. Douglas noved to dismss
this counterclaim and Wal - Mart responded that Dougl as’ statenent
“in open Court that he is experienced in intellectual property
litigation,” (Def.”s Mot. Summ J. 33.), shows his intent to
deceive the public. Even viewed in the light nost favorable to

Wal - Mart, Wal-Mart’s allegations are insufficient to state a

18



claimfor false marking, and this claimw Il be dism ssed w thout

prejudice. See Contech, 406 F.3d at 1352-53 (liability under 8§

292 only ensues if plaintiff can show defendant did not have a

reasonabl e belief that the articles were properly marked).

V. ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS

Wal - Mart requests attorneys’ fees and costs under the
Pat ent Act, the Lanham Act, and the Copyright Act, due to the
“obj ective unreasonabl eness of the clainms that Dougl as has
asserted, and the bad faith litigation tactics he has enpl oyed.”
(Def.”s Mot. Summ J. 35.) Douglas contests the allegations of
bad faith and unreasonabl eness.

Al though it is a close issue, given that the litigation
is now at an end and Dougl as was proceeding pro se, the request

for attorneys’ fees will be denied.?

V. CONCLUSI ON

For the reasons set forth above, summary judgnment wl |
be granted to Wal -Mart on Douglas’ clains for patent
i nfringenment, copyright infringenent, fal se advertising, trade
dress infringenent, state and common |aw unfair conpetition, and
trademark infringenent.

Wal - Mart’s counterclaimfor a declaratory judgnent of

8 Dougl as al so requests attorneys’ fees and costs, which
wi || be deni ed.
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non-infringenment and the invalidity of the 272 patent wll be
di sm ssed as noot. Wal-Mart’s counterclaimfor false marking
W ll be dismssed without prejudice. Wal-Mart’s request for
attorneys’ fees wll be denied.

An appropriate order foll ows.
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UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

HERVAN DOUGLAS, SR, : ClVIL ACTI ON
: NO. 05-152
Pl aintiff,
V.

WAL- MART STORES, | NC.,

Def endant .

ORDER

AND NOW this 30th day of Novenmber 2005, upon
consi deration of Defendant’s Mdtion for Summary Judgnment (docs.
no. 27, 28), Plaintiff’s response thereto, Plaintiff’s Mtions
for Summary Judgnment (docs. no. 19, 29), Defendant’s response
thereto, and after a hearing at which counsel for both parties
participated, it is hereby ORDERED that Defendant’s Mbdtion for
Summary Judgnent (docs. no. 27, 28) is GRANTED in part and DEN ED
in part as foll ows:

1. Summary judgnent will be GRANTED to Def endant on
Plaintiff’s clainms for patent infringenent,
copyright infringenment, false advertising, trade
dress infringenent, state and conmon | aw unfair
conpetition, and trademark infringenent;

2. Defendant’s first counterclaimis DI SM SSED as
noot ;

3. Def endant’s second counterclaimis DEN ED w t hout
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prej udi ce; and

4. Def endant’ s request for attorneys’ fees and costs
i s DENI ED.

It is FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff’s Mtions for

Summary Judgnent (docs. no. 19, 29) are DEN ED

AND I'T I S SO ORDERED

EDUARDO C. ROBRENO, J.

22



UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

HERVAN DOUGLAS, SR, : ClVIL ACTI ON
: NO. 05-152
Pl aintiff,
V.

WAL- MART STORES, | NC.,
Def endant .

JUDGVENT

AND NOW this 30th day of Novenmber 2005, upon
consideration of the Court’s Oder of Novenber 30, 2005, JUDGVENT
is entered in favor of Defendant and against Plaintiff on
Plaintiff’s clains for patent infringenent, copyright
infringenent, false advertising, trade dress infringenent, state
and common | aw unfair conpetition, and trademark infringenent.

| T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that JUDGVENT is entered in favor
of Plaintiff and agai nst Defendant on Defendant’s counterclai m

for false marking, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 292.

AND I'T I S SO ORDERED

EDUARDO C. ROBRENO, J.
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